**RECEIVED**

**Jan 07 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael S. Holt, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000280

---

Synchrony Bank,

Appellant,

v.

Michael Hudson,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Wesley D. Dail  
1000 Park Forty Plaza Drive, Suite 360  
Durham, North Carolina 27713  
(201) 820-6001 x459  
*Attorney for Appellant*

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON**  
**APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?
  
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT AS A SANCTION UNDER RULE 10(b) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 23, 2021, Appellant, Synchrony Bank (hereinafter "Appellant"), brought an action seeking to collect a debt alleged to be owed by Respondent, Michael Hudson, (hereinafter "Respondent"), in the sum of \$9,000.83. (R 1-10) .Respondent filed an Answer on November 10, 2021. (R 11-12).

After the parties exchanged Discovery, the Appellant filed its initial Motion for Summary Judgment on April 7, 2022. (R 13-323). Appellant's Motion was first set to be heard before the Honorable Paul M. Burch on September 13, 2022. Prior to the scheduled Hearing, Appellant requested a continuance by email to Judge Burch's office due to a scheduling conflict. Counsel for Respondent consented to Appellant's request on the same email chain. Judge Burch granted Appellant's request, which was confirmed by both a phone call and email with the Judge's office.

Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment was next set for Hearing on June 20, 2023 by Notice sent to both parties by the Court on May 19, 2023. At the Hearing, Judge Burch issued a verbal denial of Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment, holding that there was a genuine issue of material fact as to why there were two different account numbers shown on the records attached as an Exhibit to Appellant's pleadings. (R 722).

Thereafter, the matter was next set to be heard before the late Michael S. Holt. Notice of the Hearing scheduled for November 13, 2023 was sent by the Court to both parties on October 5, 2023. On October 11, 2023, Respondent sent an email to Appellant, which stated in full:

**“You are in luck. I will have to file a motion to continue this because I have oral arguments at the SC Supreme Court on Nov. 14. Please let me know if you consent to a continuance. I will file the motion later today.” See Exhibit “A”.**

After Appellant consented to Respondent's request, Respondent subsequently filed a

Motion for a Continuance on October 11, 2023. Respondent's Motion listed the three points in support thereof:

1. Defendant's counsel is arguing before the South Carolina Supreme Court on November 14, 2023, in *Jeffcoat v. Williams*, 2021-001296. See Rule 601, SCACR. Defendant's counsel will be in Columbia, South Carolina, on November 12-13, 2023, preparing for oral arguments and will be unavailable to appear in Bennettsville.
2. **This case has not been mediated. See Rule 3(a), SCADR; Rule 5(f), SCADR; Rule 10(a), SCADR.**
3. Pursuant to Rule 11, SCRCR, Defendant's counsel has consulted with Plaintiff's counsel, who consents to the requested relief. (R 340).

It is crucial to note that the issue of mediation had not raised at any point prior to the reference contained in the second paragraph of Respondent's Motion for a Continuance. To that point there was no reference to any potential mediation contained in any portion of the Court's official record, nor was there any mention or discussion of such in any unofficial communication between counsel for each party. Additionally, no Notice of ADR was ever issued by the Court at any point. An Order granting the requested Continuance was issued by Judge Burch on October 12, 2023. (R 341-342).

Appellant filed an Amended Motion for Summary Judgment on October 16, 2023, as well as a Memorandum in Support thereof on January 3, 2024. (R 343-708). The following day, Respondent filed his own Motion for Summary Judgment, based on an allegation that Appellant failed "to comply with South Carolina's ADR rules." (R 709-710). In response, Appellant filed a Motion in Opposition thereto on January 10, 2024. (R 711-721).

The respective Motions of each party were heard before Judge Holt on January 16, 2024. (R 722). After hearing arguments from both parties, Judge Holt stated that he would review the filings and issue a ruling at a later date. The following day, counsel for both parties were notified

of Judge Holt's decision by an email from his Law Clerk. That email informed the ruling to deny Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment and to grant Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, further requesting that Respondent's counsel draft and E-File an Order. The Order drafted by Respondent's counsel was signed by Judge Holt on January 23, 2024. (R 722-724). Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on February 19, 2024. (R 725-726)

**STANDARD OF REVIEW**

***Motion for Summary Judgment***

Under Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is properly granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact and where the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. *See Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists v. M.S. Baily and Sons Bankers*, 355 S.C. 104, 584 S.E.2d 375 (2003); *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (CT App. 2003). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *See Sauner v. Public Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 581 S.E.2d 161 (2003); *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 578 S.E.2d 711 (2003).

Additionally, summary judgment is appropriately granted where the pleadings, depositions, answer to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with any affidavits that might have been filed with the court, show that there is no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 578 S.E.2d 329 (2003).

Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial burden of demonstrating an absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *See Regions Bank*, 354 S.C. at 659,

582 S.E.2d at 438; *Trivelax v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 348 S.C. 125, 558 S.E.2d 271 (St. App. 2001). However, once the party moving summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. *See Regions Bank*, 354 S.C. at 660, 582 S.E.2d at 438. Rather, the non-moving party must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *See SSI Med Servis., Inc. V. Cos*, 301 S.C. 493, 392 S.E.2d 789 (1990); *Peterson v. West American Ins., Co.*, 336 S.C. 89, 518 S.E.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1999).

#### ***Sanctions Under Rule 10(b), SCADR***

Under South Carolina's ADR Rules, where a "case has not been exempted or deferred from ADR by court order, the court may issue a Rule to Show Cause why sanctions should not be imposed, including the dismissal of an action without prejudice or the striking of a pleading." *See* Rule 10(a), SCADR. Further, for any potential violation of the ADR Rules, "the court may, on its own motion or motion by any party, impose upon that party, person or entity, any lawful sanctions, including, but not limited to, the payment of attorney's fees, neutral's fees, and expenses incurred by persons attending the conference; contempt; and any other sanction authorized by Rule 37(b), SCRPC." *See* Rule 10(b), SCADR.

For such potential violations of the ADR Rules, imposing a sanction in the form of dismissing the action "is not mandatory; rather, the trial court is allowed to make such orders as it deems just under the circumstances, and the selection of a sanction is within the court's discretion." *See Kershaw Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. U.S. Gypsum Co.*, 302 S.C. 390, 395, 396 S.E.2d 369, 372 (1990). Issuing a sanction in the form of a Dismissal should be "made only if there is some showing of willful disobedience or gross indifference to the rights of the adverse party." *See Baughman v. At&T*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991).

## ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED A REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The Order of Dismissal states that there was “no material change in the proof for this motion [Appellant’s First Motion for Summary Judgment]” and that there were genuine issues of material fact present. (R 722). While the Court is correct in stating that the “proof” has not changed, the Court’s interpretation of that proof is wholly erroneous. Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment was initially denied on the basis that genuine issues of material fact were present by virtue of the change in the Account Numbers for the subject credit card account. In finding that same “proof” was used in the form of the Account Statements presented, the Court failed to recognize that the chronological sequence of those same Account Statements and the Account Numbers listed thereon amounted to prima facie evidence sufficient to remove the genuine issues of material fact cited in the prior denial of Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

Appellant’s Amended Motion for Summary Judgment, provided much greater detail than the First in regard to the assignment of the Account Numbers. Please see the following extract from the Appellant’s Motion below:

4. The Defendant entered into a credit agreement with Synchrony Bank, the Plaintiff herein, pursuant to which, the Plaintiff extended credit to the Defendant in the form of a Sam’s Club MasterCard affiliate credit card credit account initially bearing the account number ending in the last four digits XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-2251, which was subsequently transferred to and became the Defendant’s Sam’s Club MasterCard affiliate credit card credit account bearing the account number ending in the last four digits XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-5478 (hereinafter, the “Defendant’s Account”).

5. The Defendant accepted and used the credit extended to him, in the form of the Defendant's Account, by the Plaintiff as evidenced by the attached redacted copies of the monthly account statements dated November 24, 2014 through April 24, 2020. Said monthly account statements are attached hereto as Exhibit "1" and are incorporated herein by this reference.

6. Furthermore, the Defendant repeatedly accepted and used the credit extended to him under the account number XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-2251, as shown by the account statements dated November 24, 2014 through May 25, 2018, thus tendering his promise to repay to the Plaintiff the balance incurred on the subject account. Additionally, those statements show that the Defendant made payments towards the balances that the Defendant incurred on the Defendant's Account.

7. The account statement dated May 25, 2018, shows an ending balance due and owing on the Defendant's Account in the amount of \$3,439.12, with a previous balance due in the amount of \$3,528.52. Said statement also shows that the Defendant made a payment in the amount of \$160.00 towards the previous balance thus demonstrating that the Defendant intended to repay to the Plaintiff, his obligation resulting from his use of the credit extended to him by the Plaintiff.

8. The account statement dated June 25, 2018, which is the first account statement bearing the account number ending in the last four digits of XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-5478, shows a previous balance due on the subject account in the amount of \$0.00. Additionally, said statement shows a balance transfer in the amount of \$3,439.12 from the account number XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-2251 to the account number XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-5478 occurring on May 27, 2018.

9. The account statement dated June 25, 2018, also shows that the Defendant used the subject account now bearing the account number XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-5478 multiple times between June 2, 2018 and June 20, 2018. The Defendant also made a payment in the amount of \$129.00, that was posted to the Defendant's Account on June 15, 2018.

10. During the time period of May 27, 2018 through October 26, 2018, the Defendant again repeatedly accepted and used the credit extended to him by the Plaintiff in the form of the Defendant's account bearing the account number XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-5478. Moreover, the Defendant made payments towards the balances incurred on the Defendant's Account through December 12, 2019, without disputing any of the charges or fees, payments or transactions posted to the subject account. (R 343-345).

Appellant has provided ample evidence to sufficiently demonstrate that no genuine issues of material fact are present with regard to the Account Numbers issued on Respondent's Account. As the Order of Dismissal does not contain reference to a finding of any additional issues of material fact present other than the change in Account Numbers, it can be presumed that no additional such issues of material fact were found. Given the detail set forth above, it can only be determined that the Court committed a reversible error in denying Appellant's Second Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis of the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.

As to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, it should be noted that there is no contention in support of the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to the allegations in Appellant's Complaint. Specifically, that Respondent entered into a credit agreement with Appellant, pursuant to which Appellant extended credit to Respondent in the form of the account that is the subject of Appellant's Complaint; that Respondent accepted and used the credit, thus incurring balances that Respondent is obligated to repay to the Appellant; and that Respondent defaulted on his obligation to repay the Appellant the debt owed on the Respondent's Account. Rather than address the allegations contained in Appellant's Complaint and whether there is the existence of any genuine material fact in regard thereto, Respondent relies on the contention that a genuine issue of material fact exists on as to whether the Appellant participated in a mediation under the South Carolina Rules of ADR. Therefore, based on the foregoing, Summary Judgment should have been granted in favor of the Appellant.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT AS A SANCTION UNDER RULE 10(b) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

The Trial Court's ruling that Appellant intentionally "delayed" the legal process fails to take into consideration that Appellant brought the action in good faith and has consistently taken every

available measure to prosecute its case. Appellant has filed two Motions for Summary Judgment, initiated the Discovery process, and provided responses to Respondent's discovery requests. The Court of Appeals has previously held that it "will not interfere with a trial court's exercise of its discretion with respect to the imposition of sanctions unless an abuse of discretion has occurred. *See Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co.*, 327 S.C. 538, 542, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997). "An 'abuse of discretion' may be found by this Court where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, and, therefore, amounted to an error of law." *See Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989). The factual history of Appellant's conduct throughout this matter does not support the finding of "unreasonable neglect" stated in the Order of Dismissal.

Dismissals issued under Rule 37(b)(2)(C) are commonly done when a party has willfully and intentionally failed to comply with Court Orders. Appellant certainly committed no such failure here, as no Order mandating ADR was ever issued by the Court. Rule 4(c) of the South Carolina ADR sets forth as follows:

"In circuit court cases subject to ADR in which no Proof of ADR has been filed on the 210th day after the filing of the action, the Clerk of Court shall appoint a primary mediator and a secondary mediator from the current Roster on a rotating basis from among those mediators agreeing to accept cases in the county in which the action has been filed. A Notice of ADR appointing the mediators shall be issued upon a form approved by the Supreme Court or its designee." *See* Rule 4(c), SCADR.

Appellant has previously and correctly noted that the Court never issued a Notice of ADR or appointed mediators. Additionally, Rule 10(a) of the South Carolina ADR sets forth as follows:

"If by the time required by these rules, no Proof of ADR has been filed with the Office of the Clerk of Court and the case has not been exempted or deferred from ADR by court order, the Court may issue a Rule to Show Cause why sanctions should not be imposed..." *See* Rule 10(a), SCADR.

Just the same as no Notice or Order mandating ADR was ever issued by the Court, a Rule

to Show Cause was also never issued in this action. Rather than issuing a Notice of ADR or Rule to Show Cause, the Trial Court took the drastic measure of Dismissing Appellant's action with Prejudice. "When the court orders default or dismissal, or the sanction itself results in default or dismissal, the end result is harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly." *See Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Serv. Equip. Mfg. Co.*, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (Ct. App. 1999). "[T]he sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the Court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case." *See Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 399 S.E.2d 439 (Ct. App. 1990).

In cases where the Court of Appeals has reviewed Dismissals issued under Rule 37(b)(2)(C), the Court has "generally upheld the trial court's decision to use dismissal as a sanction only when necessary to protect the rules of discovery or when there was evidence of bad faith, misconduct, willful disobedience, or a callous disregard for the rights of other litigants." *See Rickerson v. Karl*, 412 S.C. 215, 770 S.E.2d 767 (Ct. App. 2015). In this case there is no evidence present in the facts, nor any presented by Respondent, which would reasonably show "bad faith, misconduct, willful disobedience, or a callous disregard for the rights of other litigants" on the part of the Appellant. During the course of this action, the only "bad faith" or "callous disregard for the rights of other litigants" displayed has been done so by Respondent. This is evidenced by Respondent noting that the case had yet to be mediated in his Motion for Continuance, which was clearly a set up for Respondent's subsequent Motion for Summary Judgment based on the alleged failure of Appellant to comply with the Rules of ADR. The Motions filed by Respondent were done so after the email sent to Appellant on October 11, 2023 requesting Appellant's consent to a Continuance. That email contained no reference to ADR or potential mediation. In fact, the parties never discussed the issue of ADR or mediation at any point during the entirety of this matter's

history. The first reference to such was made by Respondent in his Motion for Continuance. That reference was entirely unnecessary for the purpose of obtaining an Order for Continuance, as Respondent had shown a scheduling conflict for a matter previously set by another Court, and moreover by virtue of the fact that the opposing party (Appellant) had consented to the continuance. Given the ensuing actions taken by Respondent, it is clear that the course of action taken was an underhanded and surreptitious measure, tantamount to "bad faith" and "callous disregard for the rights of other litigants".

Throughout this matter, Respondent has continually failed to present a meritorious defense to Appellant's claims. Instead, Respondent has merely relied on ultimately insignificant alleged procedural deficiencies. To award the course of action and lack of any legitimate defense presented by Respondent, would be to forgo a true and rightful administration of justice.

The totality of the facts present and substance of the arguments listed above combine to show that the Trial Court's issuance of sanctions in the form of dismissing the action altogether was an abuse of its discretion, which was without reasonable factual support and produced a result that was disproportionately prejudicial against Appellant.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the evidence presented and the arguments contained herein, this Honorable Court should reverse the Dismissal entered by the Circuit Court and remand this matter for Appellant's case to be heard on the merits.