RECEIVED

Dec 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

**Michael S. Holt
Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2024-000280
Marlboro County Case No. 2021-CP-34-00228**

Synchrony Bank, Appellant,

v.

Michael Hudson..... Respondent

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Jason Scott Luck
P.O. Box 47
Bennettsville, SC 29512
843.479.6863 (o)
843.479.7222 (f)
jason@luck.law**

Attorney for Respondent

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

The late Judge Michael Holt heard both parties' motions on January 16, 2024. (R 722). On January 23, 2024, he issued the following order:

This matter comes before this Court on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, which were heard by this Court on January 16,

2024, at the Marlboro County Courthouse. Plaintiff argues that there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the existence of Defendant's debt to the Plaintiff and is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Defendant argues that this action should be dismissed for failure to comply with South Carolina's Alternate Dispute Resolution Rules. After considering the submissions and arguments of counsel, this Court finds and concludes as follows.

Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment

This Court finds no material change in the proof for this motion from Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment Judge Burch denied from the bench on June 20, 2023. This Court agrees with Judge Burch and finds there are genuine issues of material fact that must be considered by the jury, not by a judge. *See* Rule 56, SCRPC; *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Freidman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023). Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment is denied.

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment

As to Defendant's motion for summary judgment, this Court will treat this as a motion for sanctions under Rule 10(b), SCADR, as that is the motion's stated basis. *See Richland County v. Kaiser*, 351 S.C. 89, 94, 567 S.E.2d 260, 262 (Ct. App. 2002) (The substance of the relief, not the form of the motion, is what matters.). This Court would note that the summons and complaint in this case [were] filed on August 23, 2021; according to South Carolina's ADR rules, this matter "shall" be mediated within 300 days after filing. Rule 5(f), SCADR. South Carolina's ADR rules provide for sanctions for violations of those rules without good cause. Rule 10(b), SCADR. Here, the parties have not mediated this matter in accordance with Rule 5(f) and no party has requested exemption from South Carolina's ADR requirement. Plaintiff argues that because no ADR notice was issued by this Court or the Clerk of Court, it is excused from ADR. This argument does not constitute "good cause" – our ADR rules clearly and unambiguously mandate ADR. Rule 3(a), SCADR.

Rule 10(b), [SCADR], provides any sanction under Rule 37(b), SCRPC, is appropriate for violations of South Carolina's ADR Rules. Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRPC, provides authority to dismiss an action. This Court also possesses the inherent power to control its dockets and manage its affairs, including the ability to strike pleadings. *See Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 211-212, 493 S.E.2d 826, 832 (1997). This case, which was filed in 2021, was to be tried on November 13, 2023.

Defendant's October 11, 2023, motion to continue the trial noted, *inter alia*, that this action had not been mediated. After trial was continued, [...] instead of pursuing mediation the Plaintiff filed a second motion for summary judgment. This conduct is sufficiently intentional, the resolution of this matter has been sufficiently delayed, and the Defendant has been sufficiently prejudiced defending it to warrant the sanction of dismissal. Defendant's motion is granted, and this action is dismissed. Because this action cannot be refiled and served within the requisite limitations period, this dismissal is with prejudice. *See* Rule 3(a), SCRCP; S.C. Code §§ 15-3-20 & 15-3-520.

Accordingly, it is **ordered**, **adjudged**, and **decreed** that Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment is **denied**, Defendant's motion for summary judgment (treated as a motion for sanctions) is **granted**, and this action is **dismissed with prejudice**.

It is so Ordered.

(R 722-723) (emphasis in original).

On February 19, 2024, the Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal with the Marlboro County Circuit Court. Appellant did not serve (as the rules understood at the time) Respondent with the Notice of Appeal until March 12, 2024. On March 26, 2024, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss for failure to serve, which this Court denied by order dated April 26, 2024, citing *Eberly v. Advanced Flooring & Design Div. of ISI, LLC*, Op. No. 28199 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Apr. 24, 2024) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 15 at 16-20).

On May 31, 2024, Appellant served its Initial Brief. However, Appellant's Initial Brief contained no citations to the record, as required by Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR. Appellant also did not serve a Designation of Matter, as required by Rule 209, SCACR. Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss based on Appellant's deficiencies. Appellant did not respond to Respondent's motion.

On July 12, 2024, this Court denied Respondent’s motion. This order stated, verbatim:

Appellant filed its initial brief on May 31, 2024. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss, arguing Appellant's failure to include citations to the record and a designation of matter was a fatal deficiency. Appellant did not file a return. After careful consideration, we deny the motion to dismiss without prejudice to a motion to strike. *See* Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR (explaining the initial “brief shall contain references to the transcript, pleadings, orders, exhibits, or other materials. . . .”); Rule 209(a), SCACR (providing for a party to serve a designation of matter at the same time the party serves his initial brief).

Synchrony Bank v. Hudson, No. 2024-000280 (S.C. Ct. App. Order dated July 12, 2024). On July 15, 2024, Respondent filed a petition for rehearing of his motion to dismiss (or, in the alternative, a motion to strike).

In the interest of moving this long-delayed appeal forward, Respondent filed and served his Initial Brief on July 19, 2024. Though the Appellant had never served a Designation of Matter under Rule 209, SCACR, Respondent served his own, designating Judge Holt’s January 23, 2024, order for the record.

On September 5, 2024, this Court notified Appellant that the time to serve the Record on Appeal has expired and in order to proceed it would have to file a motion to serve the Record on Appeal out of time. On September 16, 2024, Appellant moved accordingly and provided its proposed Record on Appeal; Respondent opposed Appellant’s motion. On October 14, 2024, Respondent filed his Final Brief (as best as it could be prepared under the existing record).

On October 16, 2024, this Court resolved both Respondent’s pending Petition for Rehearing and Appellant’s Motion for Leave to File with the following order:

On July 12, 2024, this court denied Respondent's motion to dismiss the appeal. Therefore, this court takes no action on Respondent's petition to rehear the denial of its motion to dismiss the action. *See* Rule 221(c), SCACR ("The appellate court will not entertain petitions for rehearing on a motion or petition unless the action of the court on the motion or petition has the effect of dismissing or finally deciding a party's appeal."). However, we grant Respondent's alternative motion to strike Appellant's initial brief. *See* Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR ("The brief shall contain references to the transcript, pleadings, orders, exhibits, or other materials which may be properly included in the Record on Appeal [see Rule 210(c)] to support the salient facts alleged. References shall also be made to where relevant objections and rulings occurred in the transcript. In the initial briefs, these references should be to the page and line number of the transcript prepared by the court reporter or by the page of the material to be referenced"); Rule 209(a), SCACR ("At the same time a party serves his initial briefs) under Rule 208, to include a reply brief, he shall also serve on all parties to the appeal a Designation of Matter to be Included in the Record on Appeal which shall set forth with specificity those parts of the transcript, pleadings, orders, exhibits, or other materials which he proposes to include in the record on appeal."). Appellant's amended initial brief and designation of matter shall be served and filed within twenty days from the date of this order. Respondent may file an amended initial brief and designation of matter within thirty days of service of Appellant's amended initial brief and designation of matter.

In light of this court's decision to strike Appellant's initial brief, Appellant's motion to file the record on appeal outside of time is denied. After Appellant serves and files his amended initial brief and designation of matter and Respondent serves his amended initial brief and designation of matter—should Respondent choose to do so—then Appellant must serve and file a record on appeal that complies with this court's rules. *See* Rule 210(c), SCACR ("The Record on Appeal shall include all matter designated to be included by any party under Rule 209 and shall comply with the requirements of Rule 267.").

Synchrony Bank v. Hudson, No. 2024-000280 (S.C. Ct. App. Order dated October 16, 2024). Appellant filed its Amended Initial Brief on November 5, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary Judgment

“In reviewing an order for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” *M & M Grp., Inc. v. Holmes*, 379 S.C. 468, 473, 666 S.E.2d 262, 264 (Ct. App. 2008). “Summary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’” *Id.* (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCP); *see also Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023) (affirming that only a genuine issue of material fact will defeat a motion for summary judgment). A material issue is one that constitutes a legal defense or that affects the result of the action. *PPG Indus., Inc. v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Ctr.*, 297 S.C. 176, 375 S.E.2d 331 (Ct. App. 1988).

“On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant, the non-moving party below.” *Id.* (quoting *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004)). Summary judgment should not be granted if further development of the facts would assist in the application of the law. *Mosteller v. Cty. of Lexington*, 336 S.C. 360, 362, 520 S.E.2d 620, 621 (1999). A court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony. *Id.*

Motion for Sanctions under Rule 10(b), SCADR

South Carolina's ADR rules provide a court may award "any lawful sanctions, including, but not limited to, the payment of attorney's fees, neutral's fees, and expenses incurred by persons attending the conference; contempt; and any other sanction authorized by Rule 37(b), SCRCF." Rule 10(b), SCADR. "A trial judge's exercise of his discretionary powers with respect to sanctions [under Rule 37] will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion." *Barnette v. Adams Bros. Logging, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 588, 593, 586 S.E.2d 572, 575 (2003). The burden is on the party appealing from the order to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is controlled by an error of law, or when based on factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *McKinney v. Pedery*, 413 S.C. 475, 482, 776 S.E.2d 566, 570 (2015).

ARGUMENT

I. Denial of Summary Judgment is not appealable.

It is well-settled in South Carolina that “the denial of a motion for summary judgment is not immediately appealable.” *Olson v. Fac. House of Carolina, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 161, 167, 580 S.E.2d 440, 443 (2003); *see also Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 476, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994) (“This Court has repeatedly held that the denial of summary judgment is not directly appealable.”). Accordingly, the Circuit Court’s denial of Appellant’s motion for summary judgment must be affirmed.

II. The Circuit Court’s dismissal of this action was not controlled by an error of law, and all of the Circuit Court’s findings are supported by evidence.

While Respondent’s original motion was one for summary judgment, the Circuit Court correctly treated it as a motion for sanctions, as that was its stated basis. *See Richland County v. Kaiser*, 351 S.C. 89, 94, 567 S.E.2d 260, 262 (Ct. App. 2002) (The substance of the relief, not the form of the motion, is what matters.). Accordingly, this Court reviews the Circuit Court for an abuse of discretion, requiring an error of law or factual findings without evidentiary support. *See McKinney, supra*. Respondent has failed to show this Court how the following material facts from the Circuit Court’s order are unsupported by the evidence:

- (1) This case was filed on August 23, 2021.
- (2) Rule 5(f), SCADR, states this case “shall” be mediated within 300 days after filing.
- (3) Respondent’s October 11, 2023, motion to continue trial noted this case had not yet been mediated.

- (4) After this motion, instead of seeking mediation the Appellant filed a second motion for summary judgment.
- (5) Resolution of this action was delayed by this second motion for summary judgment.
- (6) Respondent has been prejudiced in defending this matter.

Synchrony Bank v. Hudson, No. 2021-CP-34-00228 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pl. Order dated January 23, 2024). (R 722-723). Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion.

Appellant also does not identify any errors of law in the Circuit Court's decision. Appellant argues its failure to mediate is excused because the Clerk of Court did not appoint mediators or issue a Notice of ADR pursuant to Rule 4(c), SCADR. (App. Br. pp. 9-11). However, Rule 10, SCADR, does not require these acts as conditions precedent to the imposition of sanctions. Further, the purpose of Rule 4(c) (to remind the parties of the obligation to mediate) was met when Respondent noted the case had not been mediated on October 11, 2023.

Appellant also argues the Circuit Court should have issued a rule to show cause under Rule 10(a), SCADR, instead of sanctioning Appellant. (App. Br. pp. 9-10). Rule 10(a) provides a court the authority to *sua sponte* issue a rule to show cause for failure to file a Proof of ADR. Rule 10(a), SCADR; *see also* Rule 7(f), SCADR (requirement to file Proof of ADR). This argument is a red herring - the Circuit Court sanctioned Appellant under Rule 10(b), which authorizes the court or the parties to move for sanctions for "violat[ing] any provision of the ADR Rules without good

cause...” Rule 10(b), SCADR.

Rule 10(b), SCADR, allowed the Circuit Court to impose sanctions consistent with Rule 37(b), SCRCP, and it did exactly that. Though no case law exists to guide a court applying sanctions under Rule 10(b), SCADR, dismissal under Rule 37, SCRCP, is appropriate in circumstances of willful conduct and/or gross indifference to the opposing party’s rights. *See, e.g., McNair v. Fairfield Cty.*, 379 S.C. 462, 466, 665 S.E.2d 830, 832 (Ct. App. 2008). Not only is the mediation requirement of Rule 5(f), SCACR, explicit and unambiguous, the Appellant was reminded of this requirement on October 11, 2023. In response, the Appellant refused to mediate and instead proceeded with a second, frivolous, motion for summary judgment. This conduct is sufficiently intentional and grossly indifferent to Respondent’s rights to warrant dismissal of this case. *Accord Mobile Mini Storage Solutions v. Bethea*, No. 2021-CP-34-00265, 2024 WL 3402785 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pl. Order dated April 12, 2024) (Dismissal for failure to mediate, as alternate ground). Because the statute of limitations for this claim passed long ago, dismissal with prejudice is appropriate, as the case could not be re-filed if the case had been dismissed without prejudice.¹ *See* Rule 3(a), SCRCP; S.C. Code §§ 15-3-20 & 15-3-520.

¹ To the extent this case should have been dismissed without prejudice, said error is harmless. “[T]he harmless error rule embodies a commonsense principle our appellate courts have long recognized—‘whatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.’” *State v. Reyes*, 432 S.C. 394, 406, 853 S.E.2d 334, 340 (2020) (quoting *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991)); *see also* Rule 61, SCRCP (harmless error to be disregarded).

III. Appellant’s failure to prosecute constitutes an additional sustaining ground to affirm.

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